Northwestern College, Iowa

## **NWCommons**

Master's Theses & Capstone Projects

Education

Fall 2021

# The Impact of Social Emotional Learning in an Elementary Classroom

Jessica Carter

Follow this and additional works at: https://nwcommons.nwciowa.edu/education\_masters

Part of the Education Commons

## The Impact of Social Emotional Learning in an Elementary Classroom

Jessica Carter

Northwestern College

An Action Research Project Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements For the Degree of Master of Education Northwestern College December 2021 Dr. Daniela Syed

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract
Introduction
Literature Review
The History of Social-Emotional Learning
The Basis of Social-Emotional Learning 7
Findings from Past Studies on Social-Emotional Learning
Social-Emotional Assessment Resources 11
The Importance of Social-Emotional Learning
Implementation of Social-Emotional Learning
Methodology
Variables
Research Site, Participants and Design16
Measurements Instruments
Data Collection
Findings
Data Analysis
Qualitative Data Analysis
Quantitative Data Analysis
Discussion
Future Research
Conclusion
References

#### Abstract

Social emotional learning is a growing topic in education due to the increase in mental health and behavioral disorders in children and youth (Blewitt et.al., 2021). Taking into consideration students' emotional needs is an important aspect that helps to support students' overall performance at school. This action research study conducted with first grade students not only supported students in their social and emotional needs but in their reading and mathematical skills as well. The researcher used the chosen curriculum to help students to learn about self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision making. The findings of this action research support the literature reviewed that teaching and implementing social emotional learning does impact students overall behavior and academics. The data shows that students of all backgrounds and different abilities are positively impacted by implementing social emotional learning into the classroom. However, the degree to which students are impacted vary from student to student. The findings suggest that most students show progress in improving their academic performance and behavior.

*Keywords:* social emotional learning, impact, self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, decision making

#### **Social Emotional Learning**

Social and emotional learning (SEL) is the process in which people acquire and apply the knowledge, attitudes, and skills necessary in order to understand and manage their emotions as well as set and achieve positive goals, show empathy for others, establish and maintain positive relationships with others (CASEL, 2021). In 1994 a group of educators, researchers, and child activists met and developed ideas to assist children in becoming positive citizens. These ideas came to be known as social and emotional learning. With the support of the leading organization for social and emotional learning, called the Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL), SEL supports academic, social, and emotional learning for all children preschool through high school. SEL is a crucial part of education that is backed by evidencebased research that can transform educational practices. The implementation of Social Emotional Learning within a school district has the ability to positively impact students, teachers, and the community. Social-emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed practices should become foundational in our education system. Educators see that many of their students are affected by adverse childhood experiences (ACEs). It is essential that we instil positive childhood experiences that can counteract some of the resulting trauma. Social- emotional learning has the power to create these positive experiences (Sprenger, 2020).

Social emotional learning is known to lead to better academic outcomes and helps with improving student behaviors. The impact of social emotional learning is long-term and even something students will bring with them into the world. It also helps to reduce poverty and improve economic mobility while students' lifetime outcomes are greatly improved by what they learn throughout the use of social emotional learning in their classrooms (CASEL, 2021). Social emotional learning starts a positive learning environment for all students. It includes instruction

4

and practice of the ideas being taught. Social emotional learning but be implemented with fidelity as well as sequential using the systems in place. Lastly, it offers behavioral support and ongoing mentoring and evaluation for teachers (CASEL, 2021).

#### **Literature Review**

#### The History of Social-Emotional Learning

Beginning in the late 1980s, researchers began sharing the importance of teacher participation in teaching to the issues within society. In 1994 a group of educators, researchers, and child activists met and developed ideas to assist children in becoming positive citizens. These ideas came to be known as social and emotional learning. With the support of the leading organization for social and emotional learning, called the Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL), social emotional learning supports academic, social, and emotional learning for all children preschool through high school. Social emotional learning is a crucial part of education that is backed by evidence-based research that can transform educational practices. It is the process of developing a student's social competencies including the knowledge, skills, attitudes, and behaviors the students need in order to make successful choices (Yoder, 2014). The implementation of Social Emotional Learning within a school district has the ability to positively impact students, teachers, and the community. Social emotional learning promotes the development of a child's ability to recognize and manage emotions, build relationships, solve interpersonal problems, and make effective decisions (Yoder, 2014). Social emotional learning and trauma-informed practices should become foundational in our education system. Educators see that many of their students are affected by adverse childhood experiences (ACEs). It is essential that educators instill positive childhood experiences that can counteract some of the resulting trauma. Social emotional learning has the power to create these positive experiences (Sprenger, 2020).

As school and teachers' knowledge on social emotional learning has grown, more and more schools have begun adopting and utilizing these plans into their classrooms. Schools strive

6

to develop cardinal virtues in their students which provide a standard of good character (Berkowitz & Bier, 2005). This growth in such education is due to decades of research that indicates that high-quality social-emotional learning helps to improve students' academic performance, mental health, and overall behaviors and character (Bailey et al., 2019). As research and school policies advance, social-emotional learning must advance alongside it. Many schools have found that following a curriculum in instructing social-emotional learning is helpful, other schools are wanting to get on board as well but do not have the resources or funds to do so. Some schools today are creating their own curriculum in order to provide these socialemotional practices to help support students in this area (Bailey et al., 2019).

#### The Basis of Social-Emotional Learning

Social emotional learning is a growing topic in education. Due to the increase in mental health and behavioral disorders in children and youth (Blewitt et al., 2021), SEL is becoming more necessary in classrooms today. Teachers have made a deliberate effort to cultivate virtues in students' cognitively, emotionally and behaviorally by teaching core values and creating a caring community (Berkowitz & Bier, 2005). The use of SEL supports educators while fostering an interest in learning in students. After determining the need for SEL, teachers are able to determine the best fit program for their students and classroom in order to ensure they are meeting their individual needs. Providing an environment in which students feel successful and encouraged will ultimately help students to reach their full potential and prepare them academically, socially, and emotionally for success beyond the classroom.

Recent findings from studies around stress response have shown that environmental factors such as stress, trauma, and poverty have an effect on brain development and children's capacity to learn and build relationships (Bailey et al, 2019). Further, these can influence

children's ability to focus, recall information learned, self-control, and other factors surrounding needed life-long learning and behaviors. As more teachers, administrators, and school personnel understand more about these findings, they begin to pursue new approaches to support their students in their social and emotional development. As more schools begin to grow in their understanding around the topic, so does the number of schools investing in meaningful social-emotional learning programs (Bailey et al, 2019).

Teachers have responded to this rise by implementing social emotional learning in their classrooms as an effort to support students in their social and academic needs. High-quality SEL programs are shown to help improve students' academic, mental health, and behavioral outcomes. It also aids in supporting the classroom climate and teacher practices (Bailey et al., 2019, p. 53). Emotional success has been found to hold a crucial role in successes centered around social environment and work. Through a student's self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationships, decision-making, and the skills taught with SEL, they are able to develop emotional success (Lubit et al., 2019). The Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL) determined these skills to be five sets of cognitive, affective, and behavioral competencies that make up SEL (Dusenbury & Weissberg, 2017).

Social emotional learning is focused around strategies for teachers to implement as they see fit in their classroom, all with which are considered to be developmental, flexible, and responsive. In the early years, kindergarten to second grades, students learn about brain power to help students learn to self-regulate and adjust to classroom settings. As children grow, they begin to learn about self-control, empathy, perspective, conflict resolution, and building healthy relationships. School-based programs that are designed to promote student social and emotional development at the elementary school level are proven to be effective at promoting academic

achievement, reducing conduct problems, improving prosocial behavior, and reducing emotional distress (Dusenbury & Weissberg, 2017). When considering an appropriate SEL program, schools are able to utilize the CASEL guidelines to determine if the program meets their needs. These guidelines include determining if they meet target areas of competence, gives opportunities for practice, has a multi-year timeline, offers training as well as supports, provides an evaluation study, and has been shown to have a positive impact on students (Lawson et al., 2019).

When students are encouraged and view themselves as doing well, their self-esteem is increased making them more motivated to learn. Students are able to maintain more of an interest in school when they are motivated and are able to connect their learning to goals. SEL programs support self-esteem and development of a growth mindset, giving students the ability to develop skills necessary to handle difficult situations with social and emotional interactions (Lubit et al., 2019). By implementing universal social and emotional learning (SEL) programs in school settings, it fosters effective, cognitive, and behavioral skills among all children (Lawson et al., 2019).

#### Findings from Past Studies on Social-Emotional Learning

In a meta-analysis of 213 school-based, social and emotional learning programs in which there were 270,034 kindergarten through high school students, it was found that there was a significant improvement in students' social and academic performance, showing the positive impact SEL programs have on students. The study explored the effects of universal SEL programs and interventions on students' social and emotional skills, their attitudes toward themselves as well as others, social behavior, emotional distress, and their overall academic performance. Throughout the study, the goal was to discover answers to; What outcomes are achieved by interventions that attempt to enhance children's emotional and social skills? Can SEL interventions promote positive outcomes and prevent future problems? Can programs be successfully conducted in the school setting by existing school personnel? What variables moderate the impact of school-based SEL programs? The study proved that schools should be utilizing effective SEL programs that include professional development around the program as well as proper implementation. Without this, students are less likely to see significant improvements in their social and emotional learning in addition to their academics (Durlak et al., 2011).

Over the past two decades, there has been dramatic growth in understanding children's outcomes in social-emotional learning as well as academics. In a study conducted surrounding child development based on social-emotional and literacy intervention, they utilized the 4Rs Program (Reading, Writing, Respect, and Resolution). Within this program, kindergarten through fifth grade students focused on social-emotional learning and literacy development. The program was characterized as a developmental intervention whose goal was to change the underlying processes in children that resulted in unwanted behaviors. The questions addressed in this study include; What is the experimental impact of the 4Rs Program on 2-year change in third grade children's social-cognitive processes, social emotional symptomatology, aggressive and socially competent behavior, and academic functioning, controlling for key demographic covariates? Building on recent findings demonstrating significantly stronger intervention impacts for families facing more versus fewer poverty-related risks, is the 2-year impact of the 4Rs Program moderated by child-level demographic baseline covariates including child gender, race/ ethnic background, family socioeconomic risk, and community risk? Finally, building on evidence from the 1st year of our 4Rs evaluation and other experimental evaluations of universal

school-based prevention programs, is the 2-year impact of the 4Rs Program moderated by children's baseline behavioral risk? The teachers within these schools reported a slower growth in student's aggressive behavior (compared to the control group of schools) but an increase in social competence. They also reported a decline in depression and ADHD symptoms present in their students (Jones et al., 2011).

#### **Social-Emotional Assessment Resources**

Research has helped to shape the vision for schools to focus on the whole child through the use of social emotional learning. Children are able to gain the most in school when they are learning how to process emotions as well as interact appropriately in social situations (Herrenkohl et al., 2020). Different social–emotional learning programs demonstrated their ability to increase academic performance and overall competencies while decreasing internalizing and externalizing problem behaviors (White et al., 2018). In one study shared, preschool educators were asked to develop an SEL program after being provided with evidencebased resources. Teachers participated in professional development over several of the resources prior to being asked to put them to use in their classrooms. Prior to starting a program, students were assessed in order to measure their emotional awareness, self-regulation, and problem solving, in a quiet, one-on-one area. Students were also observed in the classroom setting in the remaining SEL skills. The teachers utilized a variety of resources when planning, implementing, and assessing their students (White et al., 2018).

The study of Instructional and Rehearsal Procedures of Preschool Social Emotional Learning by White, shared the different ways they assessed their students in order to monitor their growth in different areas. One assessment was the day/night stroop, in which the test measured students' emotional self-regulation. In this assessment students were shown day and

night cards and were asked to say the opposite time of the day, measuring their executive functioning skills. Another assessment, the truck planning task, addressed students problem solving skills. This measured students' skills of planning while using a toy delivery truck and making deliveries. Students were given very specific instructions prior to getting started and students are able to progress through the assessment as they successfully complete one area. Another assessment, the dimension change card sort (DCCS) was used to assess student behavioral self-regulation. This measured students' skills of listening, concentration, and following directions. Lastly, the affect knowledge test (AKT) was used to measure students' emotional awareness by identifying feelings that match different facial expressions (White et al., 2018).

Overall, the assessments, both pre and post, were found to be successful indicators as to how the students were about to utilize emotional awareness, self-regulation, and problem solving skills. Through the use of the variety of assessments, teachers were able to clearly identify the needs of each student as well as their class as a whole in order to best plan a curriculum fitting for their group. However, the overall outcome of the study was inconclusive as it was determined that additional time was needed in order to say whether or not teachers could successfully develop a SEL program (White et al., 2018).

#### The Importance of Social-Emotional Learning

For students who are considered to be at-risk, one of the major factors in their early development of behaviors is that they attend a school that has a high number of students with behavioral issues. Therefore, the classroom environment is full of behaviors that the teacher must manage (Bierman et al., 2010). In order to best prepare teachers for classroom management, and the implementation of social emotional learning, it should begin during their teacher education

program. It has been found at social emotional learning competencies can be infused successfully during undergraduate courses in order to and teachers view this topic as important (Waajid et al., 2013).

Social emotional competencies do not only prepare students for participating in learning experiences, but they also increase students' overall capacity to learn (Durlak et al., 2011). Development of students' social emotional skills is vital for school success as well as their successes outside of school, such as at home or in their community. Students' learning is enhanced when social emotional learning is integrated with their academic learning (Elias, 2004). Having these skills is directly linked to students' overall outcome in academics, relationships, as well as their wellbeing. Social emotional learning provides the necessary skills for positive outcomes throughout a lifetime due to the relationships skills being developed and the ability to become more self-aware. Without these skills, students are at risk for physical and mental health issues, relational issues, criminal concerns, among others. Social emotional learning programs have intense societal implications, hence the dire need for these programs to be implemented into classrooms (White & Walker, 2018). It has been found that students who are involved in social emotional learning programs demonstrate an increase in academic achievement, increase social emotional skills, better attitudes towards themselves and others, improved social behaviors, as well as an overall decrease in problematic behaviors and emotional distress (Durlak et al., 2011).

Addressing the social emotional side of students not only helps to improve students' achievement, but also enhances their experiences at school and overall learning environment. With all of the changes in the world, it has become clear that teachers must address how to navigate emotions and solve problems that may arise throughout students' school days or into their lives outside of school. Therefore, implementing a program that focuses on students' social and emotional skills is necessary. Just as important is properly training teachers in these areas so they are able to follow a program with fidelity and achieve quality results from their instruction (Martinez, 2016).

Through the implementation of social emotional learning, students are able to acquire a number of skills that aid in understanding and managing emotions, achievement of positive goals, to be able to feel and show empathy for others, establish and maintain positive relationships, as well as make responsible decisions (DePaoli et al., 2018). Students learn to get along with others as well as how to work with others that may be different from themselves. They become confident in themselves and understand their own emotions and why they may feel different emotions. Students also learn to understand others' feelings along with their point of view. Additionally, students learn to solve problems in a positive manner while also learning to deal with stressful situations or other difficult situations in life (DePaoli et al., 2018). The skills taught through social emotional learning are also known as life skills which can be defined as critical thinking, coping with stress, regulation of emotions, effectively communicating and self-awareness (Arslan & Demirtas, 2016). All of these skills are necessary for students now and later in life. Helping students to develop good social and emotional skills early in life can make a significant difference in their long-term self (Lantieri & Nambiar, 2012).

#### **Implementation of Social-Emotional Learning**

Social emotional learning skills are essential and a foundation for children's positive behavior in school (Jones et al., 2014). The Collaborative for Academic, Social and Emotional Learning (CASEL) has found three strategies to be beneficial when teaching social emotional learning in the classroom. Direct instruction is the first area identified. Students need to be taught

14

these skills through whole group or small group lessons in which the skills are modeled for them and they have the opportunity to practice these skills. Another area identified is social emotional learning skills being integrated with academic content as well as being infused within teaching practices. Students tend to benefit at higher levels when the social emotional learning programs are intensive and integrated. Students need the opportunity for these skills to be a part of their daily interactions with their peers and within their culture at school. Practicing social emotional skills should not only happen in the classroom but in other areas around the school such as the cafeteria, playground, and hallways. These skills should extend beyond the school into their homes and communities as well (Martinez, 2016).

Second Step, a violence prevention program, has been utilized in schools to aid in addressing the social and emotional skills of children and youth in grades pre-kindergarten up until middle school. The program seeks to enhance the social environment for children by providing students with social emotional skills (Cooke et al, 2007). In a study determining the effects of implementation of Second Step, it was found that many students showed positive changes in their overall behavior and confidence in how to handle situations. It was also found that there were fewer aggressive behaviors over time, which is the premises of Second Step (Cooke et al, 2007). The implementation of this program was found to be successful in using the broad based approach of Second Steps. The community, parents, and all members of the school staff supported the implementation of this program (Cooke et al, 2007).

Research has identified recommended practices if creating an SEL program. An effective social emotional learning program is reflected using the acronym SAFE: sequenced, active, focused, and explicit (Payton et.al., 2008). Sequence simply focuses on the order in which material is taught to the students. The program should be connected and coordinated in order to

achieve the desired outcome. Active refers to active learning in which instruction, rehearsal and feedback are all components. A program needs to be focused on developing personal and social skills as well as targeting specific social emotional learning skills (White et al., 2017). When social emotional learning programs utilize all of these SAFE practices, it is more likely to impact students' social emotional development such as their self-perception, sense of belonging, positive social behaviors, and overall academic success (Underwood, 2020).

#### Methodology

#### **Research Questions**

- 1. What impact does social emotional learning have on academic success?
- 2. What effects does social emotional learning have on students' behaviors?

#### Variables

The independent variables within this study are the interventions provided to students in order to teach them social emotional skills. The intervention needed changes depending on the students individual needs and areas they need more focus on. This looked differently depending on the student, however, interventions may include one on one counseling on a specific skill shown as a discrepant for the student, group interventions learning a variety of social emotional skills needed in the classroom, or reteaching of already learned skills. These interventions were provided by the researcher and the school counselor depending on the needs of the student. The dependent variable in this study are the students' academic success and behaviors that are a result of their understanding and practice with social emotional learning.

#### **Research Site**

This action research project was conducted within the researchers first grade classroom in the Adel Desoto Minburn school district. Adel DeSoto Minburn is the combination of three growing towns. Our district is located in Central Iowa approximately 20 minutes west of Des Moines. ADM has 5 buildings placed throughout the community. Adel Elementary is located in Adel and houses PK-1 grade multiple section classrooms. Meadow View Elementary is located in Adel and houses 2-4 grade multiple section classrooms. DeSoto Intermediate is located in DeSoto and houses 5-6 grade multiple section classrooms. The Middle School is located in Adel and houses 7-8 multiple section classrooms. The High School is located in Adel and houses 9-12 multiple section classrooms.

The elementary in which the study was conducted, Adel Elementary, has approximately 400 students in grades preschool through first grade. The class sizes are typically 19-21 students per classroom. For the 2021-22 school year there are 194 first grade students, with 19 of those students in the researchers classroom.

#### **Research Participants**

The participants in the study include 10 first grade students in one classroom. Three female and seven male students were selected that the researcher felt best represents the diverse range of achievements within the classroom. Students were selected so that students who are high achieving, those who have learning difficulties, and students with behavior issues are all represented within the study. The researcher worked closely with the school Principal as well as the guidance counselor to ensure that the students selected were a good representation and fit for the study.

#### **Research Design**

Previously, students have spent time learning social emotional skills with the school counselor and have been taught the essential skills in social emotional learning. The researchers aim was to aid in this learning by teaching additional social emotional learning lessons daily in the classroom. The researcher began the correlational research design within her own classroom at the beginning of the school year to select appropriate materials to utilize with students in order to continue the learning already in practice with the school counselor. Throughout this process the researcher worked closely with the school counselor as well as the building principal to select the materials that best fit the needs of the students and that aid in what students are learning

during their time with the counselor. The school counselor helped in preparing the classroom to ensure that all students were able to get the most out of this opportunity and that the curriculum closely follows the standard practice already in place with social emotional learning.

The study began after appropriate materials were selected and the participants were identified. The researcher began by teaching social emotional skills daily and aimed to answer the question, "What strategies can be used to teach children skills that will increase their social and emotional competencies?" The researcher spent 4 weeks teaching the skills while monitoring to see which strategies were best for her classroom when teaching social emotional skills. During this time, students completed formative assessments that shared their progress and identified which strategies were best for them.

#### **Measurement Instruments**

One of the tools used in this study was the FastBridge Assessment in the areas of early reading and math. FastBridge supports Multi-Tiered System of Support (MTSS) by ensuring that educators are given the right quantitative data and tools to target appropriate support for each student. The data is given in a timely manner, allowing interventions to start promptly. Through FastBridge, teachers are able to screen students, receive diagnostic data, and progress monitor their students all throughout the program. From this data, teachers are able to pinpoint children's needs in reading and math (FastBridge, 2020).

A dependent samples *t*-test was conducted to determine if there was a significant change in students' academic progress following the progress monitoring taking place utilizing the FastBridge system. It was found that a significant change occurred in students' academic performance in the area of reading. Prior to teaching social emotional learning skills, students were able to read an average of 9 words per minute (M = 9.31, SD = 4.22). Following the teaching and students putting into practice the skills they have learned, they were able to read an average of 13.5 words per minute (M = 13.53, SD = 4.86), a score much higher than years past. Results of the dependent samples *t*-test revealed a significant difference between the pre-test and post-test, t(9) = -2.79, p < .021. In years past, the average change from August to November was 2 to 2.5 points, showing that social emotional learning did in fact have a positive shift in students' academic performance.

Another dependent sample *t*-test was conducted to determine the change in students' academic progress in the area of mathematics. It was also found that a significant change occurred in students' academic performance in the area of math. Prior to teaching social emotional learning skills, students scored an average of 5.5 on decomposing numbers (M = 5.52, SD = 2.92). Following the teaching and students putting into practice the skills they have learned, they were able to decompose an average of 8.2 numbers accurately (M = 8.22, SD = 3.65). The researcher was not able to compare this to previous years as this was the first year of administering this assessment.

Also used to collect data was SAEBRs, which measures students' social, emotional, and academic behaviors. The SAEBRs teacher observation rating scale is used to assess students' individual behavior scores and is quantitative. FastBridge, the website used to administer SAEBRs, stated that students' success in school is not only measured by their academic achievement but has multiple behavioral domains. As recommended by SAEBRs, the tests are administered after students have been in school for at least six weeks, helping to ensure that the teacher has ample interaction time with their students (FastBridge, 2020). Therefore, the test was one administered once during the window of this action research.

#### **Reliability and Validity of Measurement Instruments**

Prior to administering the assessment, the researcher completed the FastBridge early reading and math training as well as SAEBRs in order to become certified. This ensured that the researcher was administering each assessment systematically and with validity. In order to ensure reliability, all students were assessed in a quiet environment that was consistent from student to student. This helped to ensure that each student was given the same opportunity to do their best work by providing this type of learning environment.

#### **Data Collection**

As daily teaching around social emotional learning continued, the researcher began a 2 week (10 day) study in which the 10 participants were closely monitored. This is new for our school as social emotional learning has never been formally tracked in our students. The researcher monitored behaviors and the academic progress throughout this time to identify the impact of social emotional learning as well as their use of social emotional skills during this time. The questions being answered were 1) What impact does social emotional learning have on academic success? 2) What effects does social emotional learning have on students' behaviors? The researcher also utilized SABERS as well as FastBridge Assessment to gain information on each individual student.

Data was collected through students' weekly progress monitoring assessments and was recorded on an Excel spreadsheet. After the assessments were completed, all of the data was retrieved and analyzed by the researcher. The reading and mathematical growth of the students was determined by looking at students' scores in August 2021 and November 2021 on FastBridge early reading and math. The researcher also looked closely at the scores of the 10 students selected compared to the other students in the classroom as well as the entire grade level. The researcher also reviewed the students' scores utilizing SAEBRs and compared the 10 selected students' scores to the rest of the class as well as other first grade students. Lastly, the researcher utilized observational notes to determine the students overall growth in the area of social emotional learning.

### **IRB** Exemption

The application for the Educational Practice Exemption was reviewed and approved by Karissa Carlson for the IRB on September 28, 2021.

#### Findings

#### **Data Analysis**

The researcher is a certified teacher with nine years of experience in the classroom, four of those years being in first grade. The research was collected by the classroom teacher prior to the implementation of Social Emotional Learning in the classroom as well as after six consecutive weeks of this learning taking place. Collecting the data allowed the researcher to answer the research questions; What impact does social emotional learning have on academic success? What effects does social emotional learning have on students' behaviors? The qualitative data collected in this study allowed the researcher to recognize certain behaviors that were concerning and focus on the cause as well as a solution. The quantitative data collected gave the researcher insight into the benefits of social emotional learning.

#### **Qualitative Data Analysis**

The qualitative data in this study was collected using anecdotal notes, pre and post implementation. The researcher reviewed the anecdotal notes and categorized them based on students learning to help better understand the benefits of the social emotional learning program being used. Prior to starting the research, ten students were identified. These students included students with behavioral plans from previous years as well as students with minor or no behavioral issues.

Additionally, quantitative data was collected on students' behaviors utilizing SAEBRS on the FastBridge testing system. Students' behaviors were analyzed post-implementation to allow the teacher time to grow relationships with each student and build knowledge on the student as a whole. For students in first grade, the teacher completes the assessment based on students behaviors in the classroom. Out of the ten students identified, 20% of the students were considered at high risk and 40% were considered at some risk for social, academic, or emotional behaviors. Of these students, 30% are on academic behavior plans and 10% are on behavior intervention teams in which their behaviors are discussed monthly with a group of interventionists, special education teachers, and administrators. Overall, more information in this area needs to be collected in order to determine the impact of social emotional learning on behaviors.

#### **Quantitative Data Analysis**

The quantitative data was collected using a dependent t-test in order to track students' academic progress pre- and post- implementation of the program. The researcher utilized one subtest in FastBridge, nonsense words, to watch the growth with each student over time. Students were progress monitored weekly to ensure that adequate growth was taking place, as well as the testing that took place pre- and post- implementation.

It was found that the total number of nonsense words adequately could be read per minute utilizing the FastBridge testing system. The pre-implementation scores are shown in column 2 and post-implementation is shown in column 3. Of the ten students selected, 80% showed improvement in their reading scores while 20% showed a slight decrease utilizing one subtest of FastBridge. One student showed significant improvement in their reading score, while another student showed slight improvement. At the beginning of the study, 40% of these students were considered at risk, according to FastBridge, due to their low number of words read perminute. Following the post-implementation test, only 10% of students were still considered atrisk but showed an increase in the score overall.

The dependent samples *t*-test conducted determined there was a significant change in students' academic progress following the progress monitoring taking place utilizing the

FastBridge system. Prior to teaching social emotional learning skills, students were able to read an average of 9 words per minute (M = 9.31, SD = 4.22). Following the teaching and students putting into practice the skills they have learned, they were able to read an average of 13.5 words per minute (M = 13.53, SD = 4.86). Results of the dependent samples *t*-test revealed a significant difference between the pre-test and post-test, t(9) = -2.79, p < .021. The social emotional learning skills in practice increased student scores over the time period given.

Also collected, utilizing the dependent t-test, tracked students' academic progress preand post- implementation of the program in the area of mathematics. The researcher utilized FastBridge EarlyMath in order to watch the growth with each student over time. The dependent sample t-test conducted determined the change in students' academic progress in the area of mathematics was significant. Prior to teaching social emotional learning skills, students scored an average of 5.5 on decomposing numbers (M = 5.51, SD = 2.92). Following the teaching and students putting into practice the skills they have learned, they were able to decompose an average of 8.2 numbers accurately (M = 8.22, SD = 3.65). The researcher was not able to compare this to previous years as this was the first year of administering this assessment.

#### Discussion

#### **Summary of Major Findings**

Taking into consideration students' emotional needs is an important aspect that helps to support students' overall performance at school. Implementing social emotional learning lessons and interventions that support students' emotional needs help all students develop positively emotionally as well as academically. This action research study conducted with first grade students not only supported students in their social and emotional needs but in their reading and mathematical skills as well. The researcher used the chosen curriculum in coincidence with the school counselor to help students to learn about self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision making.

The findings of this action research support the literature reviewed that teaching and implementing social emotional learning does impact students overall behavior and academics. The data shows that students of all backgrounds and different abilities are positively impacted by implementing social emotional learning into the classroom. However, the degree to which students are impacted vary from student to student. The findings suggest that most students show progress in improving their academic performance and behavior.

#### **Further Research**

In further studies, it would be beneficial to extend the length of the study to allow for more data to be collected. It would be beneficial to the researcher to have more data points to compare, especially from the start of the year to the end. It could also be beneficial to compare a classroom utilizing social emotional learning strategies as well as those that are not in order to track if it's truly social emotional learning playing a role in students' progress. The more data the researcher is able to collect, the more conclusions that can be drawn about the overall impact of social emotional learning on students.

It would also be beneficial to have more data points to collect in the area of behavior. Where SAEBRs is a great resource, the one data point collected is not enough to draw a conclusion on the students overall performance or the impact of social emotional learning. More research needs to be conducted to find another suitable test to determine these impacts or more data from SAEBRs over the course of the year.

Lastly, collecting information from parents of the participants could lead to some beneficial findings as they have different experiences with their children at home. It would be beneficial to see if the impacts of social emotional learning continued for the students as they returned home each night, over the weekends, or on extended breaks. Researchers could utilize SAEBRs to develop appropriate questions to ask parents to gain beneficial information on each student. Over time, this could create a great partnership between teachers and parents.

#### Conclusion

Social emotional learning has the opportunity to support all students by offering them a tool to utilize when feeling certain emotions and to give teachers the resources to help their students in a way that is supportive. Each year students struggle to manage their emotions, and often teachers have a difficult time handling these emotions within their own classrooms without needing to involve the school counselor. Through the implementation of social emotional learning, students will be able to deal with their emotions in a productive way and teachers will look forward to developing a deeper understanding of how they can best utilize the skills within their classrooms. Not only are students' emotional needs met, but they are able to progress academically in a positive way. Overall, this action research has shown the need and importance of social emotional learning in schools.

#### References

- Arslan, S., & Demirtas, Z. (2016). Social Emotional Learning And Critical Thinking Disposition. Studia Psychologica, 58(4), 276-285.
- Bailey, R., Stickle, L., Brion-Meisels, G., & Jones, S. M. (2019). Re-imagining social-emotional learning: findings from a strategy-based approach. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 100(5), 53–58.
- Berkowitz, M. W., & Bier, M. C. (2005). *What works in character education: A research-driven guide for educators*. Washington, DC: Character Education Partnership.
- Bierman, K. L., Coie, J. D., Dodge, K. A., Greenberg, M. T., Lochman, J. E., McMahon, R. J., & Pinderhughes, E. (2010). The effects of a multiyear universal social–emotional learning program: The role of student and school characteristics. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(2), 156-168.

CASEL. (2021). What is SEL? Retrieved from http://www.casel.org/what-is-sel/

- Cooke, M. B., Ford, J., Levine, J., Bourke, C., Newell, L., & Lapidus, G. (2007). The Effects of City-Wide Implementation of "Second Step" on Elementary School Students' Prosocial and Aggressive Behaviors. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 28(2), 93-115. /https://casel.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Respected.pdf
- DePaoli, J. L., Atwell, M. N., Bridgeland, J. M., & Shriver, T. P. (2018). Respected
   Perspectives of Youth on High School & Social and Emotional Learning. CASEL.
   Retrieved September 12, 2021, from

https://casel.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Respected.pdf.

Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D. & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child Development*, 82, 405–432.

- Elias, M. J. (2004). Strategies to infuse social and emotional learning into academics. In J. E. Zins, R. W. Weissberg, M. C. Wang, & H. J. Walberg (Eds.), Building academic success on social and emotional learning: What does the research say? (pp. 113–134). New York: Teachers College Press.
- Herrenkohl, T. I., Jones, T. M., Lea, Charles H., I., II, & Malorni, A. (2020). Leading with data:
  Using an impact-driven research consortium model for the advancement of social
  emotional learning in schools. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 90(2), 283-287.
- Jones, S.M., Bailey, R., & Jacob, R. (2014). Social-emotional learning is essential to classroom management. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 96(2), 19–24. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721714553405
- Jones, S. M., Brown, J. L., & Aber, J. L. (2011). Two-year impacts of a universal school-based social-emotional and literacy intervention: an experiment in translational developmental research. *Child Development*, 82(2), 533–533.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01560.x

- Lantieri, L., & Nambiar, M. (2012). Cultivating the Social, Emotional, and Inner Lives o Children and Teachers. *Reclaiming Children and Youth*, *21*, 27–33.
- Martinez, L. (2016). Teachers' voices on social emotional learning : identifying the conditions that make implementation possible. *International Journal of Emotional Education*, 8(2), 6–24.
- Payton, J., Weissberg, R. P., Durlak, J. A., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., Schellinger, K. B., & Pachan, M. (2008). The Positive Impact of Social and Emotional Learning for Kindergarten to Eighth-Grade Students: Findings from Three Scientific Reviews.
  Technical Report. *Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (NJ1)*,

- Underwood, A. (2020, January 28). S.A.F.E. social-emotional learning programming boosts participants' personal, social and academic outcomes. S.A.F.E. Social-Emotional
  Learning Programming Boosts Participants' Personal, Social and Academic Outcomes.
  Retrieved November 2021, from https://naaweb.org/professional-development/item/
  1224-s-a-f-e-social-emotional-learning-programming-boosts-participants-personal-social and-academic-outcomes.
- Waajid, B., Garner, P. W., & Owen, J. E. (2013). Infusing Social Emotional Learning into the Teacher Education Curriculum . *The International Journal of Emotional Education*, 5(2), 31–48.
- White, A., Moore, D. W., Fleer, M., & Anderson, A. (2017). A Thematic and Content Analysis of Instructional and Rehearsal Procedures of Preschool Social Emotional Learning Programs. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 42(3), 82–91. https://doi.org/10.23965/AJEC.42.3.10
- White, A., & Walker, S. (2018). Enhancing Social–emotional Development through Evidence-based Resources. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 43(4), 4–12. https://doi.org/10.23965/AJEC.43.4.01
- Yoder, N. (2014). Teaching the Whole Child Instructional Practices That Support Social-Emotional Learning in Three Teacher Evaluation Frameworks. *American Institutes for Research*, 1–37. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED581718.pdf